
CITY OF PLYMOUTH, WISCONSIN 
TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 26, 2024 COMMON COUNCIL MEETING  

7:00 PM COUNCIL CHAMBERS, ROOM 302 
128 SMITH ST. PLYMOUTH, WI 53073 

 
AGENDA  

 
1. Call to order and roll call:  

 
2. Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
3. Approval of the Consent Agenda (Alderpersons may request removal of item(s), or 

part thereof without debate or vote):  
A. Approve minutes of the meeting held Tuesday, November 12, 2024 
B. Approve City and Utility Reports: 

I. Electric, Water and Sewer Sales Report – October 2024 
II. Utility Related Write Offs for November - $6,620.95 

C. Minutes acknowledged for filing – Library Board: October 7 – Redevelopment 
Authority: November 7 – Board or Appeals: November 7 – Plan Commission: 
November 7 - Plymouth Housing Authority: November 8 

D. Approval of December 16, 2024 Fire Department Annual Recognition Dinner 
in the Fire Department Training Hall (Including Alcohol in the Building) 
 

4. Audience Comments: Citizens comments must be recognized by the mayor or 
presiding officer and are limited to three minutes per person from those signed in on 
the registration sheet located at the back of the Council Chambers prior to the start of 
the meeting. 

 
5. Items removed from Consent Agenda: 

 
6. Public Hearing followed by Discussion and Action: 

A. Ordinance No. 22 An Ordinance Amending Section 13-1-28 of the City of 
Plymouth, Wisconsin Zoning Code Regarding High Density Multi-Family 
Residential District – Tim Blakeslee, City Administrator / Utilities 
Manager 

B. Ordinance No. 23 An Ordinance Amending Section 13-1-192(d) and 
Repealing Section 13-1-193 of the City of Plymouth, Wisconsin Zoning 
Code Regarding Voting on Zoning Code Amendments – Tim Blakeslee, 
City Administrator / Utilities Manager 

C. Ordinance No. 24 An Ordinance Amending Section 13-1-104 and 
Repealing Section 13-1-105 of the City of Plymouth, Wisconsin Zoning 
Code Regarding Political Message Signs – Tim Blakeslee, City 
Administrator / Utilities Manager 
 

7. Ordinance:  
A. No. 25 An Ordinance Creating Section 12-1-10 of the General Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Plymouth, Wisconsin Related to Nutt Ski Hill 
Park – Tim Blakeslee, City Administrator / Utilities Manager 
 



8. Resolution: 
A. No. 12 Declaring Official Intent to Reimburse Expenditures from 

Proceeds of Bonding – Tim Blakeslee, City Administrator / Utilities 
Manager 
 

9. New Business: 
A. Discussion and Possible Action of Agreement with Ehlers Regarding TID 

#8 Services – Tim Blakeslee, City Administrator / Utilities Manager 
B. Discussion and Possible Action to Approve Bid from Neuman Pools in the 

amount of $229,283 for Pool Floor Rehab  – Cathy Austin, Director of 
Public Works / City Engineer 

C. Discussion and Possible Action to Approve Proposal from Haucke 
Plumbing in the amount of $44,500 for the Pool Heater Replacement – 
Cathy Austin, Director of Public Works / City Engineer 

D. Discussion and Possible Action to Approve the Purchase of Asphalt 
Roadsaver Trailer from Sherwin Industries, Inc. in the amount of 
$50,720– Cathy Austin, Director of Public Works / City Engineer 

E. Discussion and Possible Action on Agreement with Kapur Engineering 
for Design and Engineering for 2025 Street Project – Cathy Austin, 
Director of Public Works / City Engineer 

F. Discussion and Possible Action to Approve the Purchase of a Street 
Sweeper from Serwe Implement LLC in the amount of $318,976– Cathy 
Austin, Director of Public Works / City Engineer 

G. Discussion and Possible Action to Approve the Purchase of a Lawn 
Mower with Snowblower Attachment from Lochen Equipment in the 
amount of $39,274.04– Cathy Austin, Director of Public Works / City 
Engineer 

  
10. Entertain a Motion to go into Closed Session for the following: 

Pursuant to Wis. Stat (1)(e) deliberating or negotiating the purchasing of public properties, 
the investing of public funds or conducting other specified public business, whenever 
competitive or bargaining require a closed session – LAG Family LLC 
 
AND 
 
Pursuant to Wis. Stat. 19.85 (1)(c) for considering employment, promotion, compensation 
or performance evaluation data of any public employee over which the governmental body 
has jurisdiction or exercises responsibility regarding Resolution 13 Establishing the 2025 
Compensation for Non-Union Employees and regarding City Administrator Annual 
Performance Evaluation 
 
AND 
 
Pursuant to Wis. Stat. 19.85 (1)(g) conferring with legal counsel for the government body 
who is rendering oral or written advice concerning strategy to be adopted by the body with 
respect to litigation in which it is or is likely to become involved regarding –Employment 
Claim 
 

 



11. Entertain a motion to go into open session 
 

12. Discussion and possible action on Closed Session item/s 
 

13. Adjourn to 7:00 PM on Tuesday, December 10, 2024 
 
It is likely a quorum of members of other governmental bodies of the municipality may be in attendance at the above stated meeting to 
gather information.  No action will be taken by any governmental body at the above stated meeting other than the governmental body 
specifically referred to above in this notice. 
 
Please note that, upon reasonable notice, efforts will be made to accommodate the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate aids 
and services.  For additional information or to request this service, please contact the City of Plymouth ADA Coordinator Leah 
Federwisch, located in the Plymouth Utilities office at 900 County Road PP, Plymouth, WI or call 920-893-3853.  



CITY OF PLYMOUTH, WISCONSIN 
TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 12, 2024 COMMON COUNCIL MEETING  

7:00 PM COUNCIL CHAMBERS, ROOM 302 
128 SMITH ST. PLYMOUTH, WI 53073 

 
UNOFFICIAL MINUTES 

 
1. Call to order and roll call: Mayor Pohlman called the meeting to order. On the call of the 

roll the following were present: Angie Matzdorf, Diane Gilson, John Binder, Dave 
Herrmann, John Nelson, Mike Penkwitz, Jeff Tauscheck and Greg Hildebrand. Also 
present: City Administrator/Utilities Manager Tim Blakeslee, Police Chief Ken Ruggles, 
Deputy Police Chief Matt Starker, Director of Public Works Cathy Austin, and City Clerk 
Anna Voigt. 

 
2. Pledge of Allegiance 
 
3. Approval of the Consent Agenda (Alderpersons may request removal of item(s), or 

part thereof without debate or vote): Motion was made by Tauscheck/Herrman to 
approve the consent agenda. Upon the call of the roll, all voted aye. Motion carried. 

A. Approve minutes of the meeting held Tuesday, October 29, 2024 
B. Approve City and Utility Reports: 

I. List of City & Utility Vouchers dated 10/01/2024 – 10/31/2024 
C. Minutes acknowledged for filing – Committee of the Whole: October 29 - 

Community Television: October 7 
D. Building Report for October 2024 – 37 permits at $3,910,648 
E. Approve Request to Sell Department of Public Works Surplus Equipment 
F. Approve Temporary “Class B” and Class “B” Alcohol License for Plymouth 

Historical Society – Plymouth Historical Society’s Wine & Cheese Event, to 
be held at 420 E Mill St. on November 21, 2024 at 4 PM – 8 PM.  

 
4. Audience Comments: Citizens comments must be recognized by the mayor or 

presiding officer and are limited to three minutes per person from those signed in on 
the registration sheet located at the back of the Council Chambers prior to the start 
of the meeting: None 

 
5. Items removed from Consent Agenda: None 

 
6. Awards 

A. Meritorious Conduct Award for Officer Konstanz: Police Chief Ruggles 
presented Officer Nick Konstanz with a Meritorious Conduct Award for his 
commitment to always treat everyone with dignity and respect. Officer 
Konstanz found a gentleman walking around in the middle of the night in 
August out of sorts. He later found out this gentleman had been receiving 
treatments of chemo and sometimes finds it difficult to sleep and went for 
walk to ease his mind. This gentleman was a City’s Alderperson Greg 
Hildebrand. Hilderbrand thanked officer Konstanz for his respect that night 
and it meant a lot to him. Alder Hilderbrand wanted to make sure in talking 
with the Chief, Officer Konstanz knew he was appreciated as an officer in the 
City of Plymouth. 



 
7. Public Hearings followed by Council Discussion and Possible Action: 

A. Resolution No. 11 Adopting the Annual Budget, Making Appropriations, 
and Levying 2024 Property Taxes – Mayor Pohlman opened the public 
hearing at 7:05 PM. City Administrator/Utilities Manager Blakeslee explained 
the 2025 Budget has a levy decrease of 0.63%, there is a 1.67% assessed tax 
rate increase from 5.92 per thousand to 6.06 per thousand. There is a 0% 
increase to water and wastewater utility rates. Blakeslee noted there were no 
significant changes from the budget work sessions. The City and the Utility 
continue to deal with high equipment costs and longer equipment lead times, 
City staff will continue to seek out ideas and strategies that will not only 
maintain, but improve the infrastructure, financial stability, and quality 
services of the City. There being no public comment the Mayor called the 
public hearing closed at 7:08 PM. Motion was made by Nelson/Tauscheck to 
approve Resolution No. 11 Adopting the Annual Budget, Making 
Appropriations, and Levying 2024 Property Taxes. Upon the call of the roll, 
all voted aye. Motion carried.  

B. Ordinance No. 18 An Ordinance Amending the City of Plymouth, 
Wisconsin Comprehensive Plan Existing Land Use Map and Future Land 
Use Plan Map by Changing Property from Agriculture and Commercial 
to Residential (Parcel #59271829009) – Mayor Pohlman opened the public 
hearing at 7:09 PM. City Administrator/Utilities Manager Blakeslee explained 
Parcel # 59271829009 is located on the south side of Columbia Dr., west of 
the Baymont Hotel, Terrace Realty is requesting a comprehensive plan 
amendment and rezoning for a proposed senior housing / workforce housing 
development. Ordinance No. 18 and 19 are for the same parcel. There being 
no public comment the Mayor called the public hearing closed at 7:12 PM. 
Motion was made by Binder/Hildebrand to approve Ordinance No. 18. Upon 
the call of the roll, all voted aye. Motion carried. 

C. Ordinance No. 19 An Ordinance Amending Section 13-1-21, Zoning Map 
of the Zoning Code of the City of Plymouth (Parcel #59271829009) – 
Mayor Pohlman opened the public hearing at 7:13 PM. City 
Administrator/Utilities Manager Blakeslee explained the comprehensive plan 
future land use map lists Parcel # 59271829009 as Commercial. Terrace 
Reality is requesting approval of a comprehensive plan amendment to 
designate the parcel as Residential. There being no public comment the Mayor 
called the public hearing closed at 7:14 PM. Motion was made by 
Tauscheck/Matzdorf to approve Ordinance No. 19. Upon the call of the roll, 
all voted aye. Motion carried. 

D. Ordinance No. 20 an Ordinance Amending Section 13-1-21, Zoning Map 
of the Zoning Code of the City of Plymouth (Parcel #59271821078) – 
Mayor Pohlman opened the public hearing at 7:15 PM. City 
Administrator/Utilities Manager Blakeslee explained parcel #59271821078 is 
located south of Jimmy John’s, Scooter’s, Advanced Auto Parts, and vacant 
parcel 59271821077. Plankview Green Development, LLC is requesting a 
rezoning for an upcoming multi-family residential project. There being no 
public comment the Mayor called the public hearing closed at 7:16 PM. 
Motion was made by Hildebrand/Tauscheck to approve Ordinance No. 20. 
Upon the call of the roll, all voted aye. Motion carried. 



 
8. Ordinance: 

A. Ordinance No. 21 an Ordinance Amending Section 15-1-4 of the City of 
Plymouth, Wisconsin General Ordinances Regarding Adoption of 
Camping Unit State Code –City Administrator/Utilities Manager Blakeslee 
explained from time to time the State of Wisconsin updated the Uniform 
Dwelling Code. Through the process of notifying the State about the City’s 
switch in building inspectors, staff became aware that the City of Plymouth 
has not adopted SPS 327, which pertains to camping units/sites. Motion was 
made by Herrmann/Gilson to approve Ordinance No. 12. Upon the call of the 
roll, all voted aye. Motion carried. 

 
9. New Business: 

A. Discussion and Possible Action of Ski-Hill License Agreement Approval –
City Administrator/Utilities Manager Blakeslee explained that Nutt Ski Hill 
has not been used for organized winter recreation since February 2014. Over 
the past two years, a group of Plymouth community members formed a non-
profit organization, Cheese Capital Winter Park LLC, to explore the 
reestablishment of Nutt Ski Hill for winter activities. At the Plan Commission 
meeting on November 7, 2024, they unanimously recommended the Common 
Council approve the Nutt Ski Hill Exclusive License with Cheese Capital 
Winter Park LLC. Motion was made by Matzdorf/Tauscheck to approve the 
Exclusive License Agreement for Nutt Ski Hill. Upon the call of the roll, all 
voted aye. Motion carried. 

B. Discussion and Possible Action of Sargento Development Agreement 
Update – City Administrator/Utilities Manager Blakeslee explained the City 
of Plymouth and Sargento entered into a Development Agreement in July 
2019 in which the City vacated the cul-de-sac of Sunset Dr. to allow Sargento 
to construct a private roadway and parking area. In exchange, Sargento would 
reconstruct, at its cost, the cul-de-sac of Sunset Dr. further to the south. This 
agreement extends the time-period of the agreement to September 2025. 
Motion was made by Penkwitz/Hildebrand to approve the first amendment to 
development agreement for Sargento Foods Inc. Upon the call of the roll, all 
voted aye. Motion carried. 

C. Discussion and Possible Action of Substation Relay Panels – City 
Administrator/Utilities Manager Blakeslee explained the Plymouth Utilities is 
responsible for construction and maintenance of electrical distribution lines to 
local homes and businesses. The Public Service Commission (PSC) approved 
the Certificate of Authority (CA) to construct a new substation in the Town of 
Mitchell on February 1, 2024 and issued their final order on March 4, 2024. 
Now that the final order for the CA has been issued, staff is moving forward 
with bidding the various components of the substation project. Bids for the 
Substation #5 Relay Panels were opened on October 30, 2024. The low bid 
was EP2 totaling $201,044. The bids are higher than budgeted; however, the 
scope of the original budget has expanded to include an additional panel 
SCADA. Motion was made by Nelson/Herrmann to approve Plymouth 
Substation #5 Relay Panels from EP2 totaling $201,044 subject to 
attorney/staff review and approval of the terms and conditions. Upon the call 
of the roll, all voted aye. Motion carried. 



 
10. Entertain a Motion to go into Closed Session for the Following: Motion was made by 

Nelson/Tauscheck to go into closed session. Upon the call of the roll, all voted aye. 
Motion carried. 

Pursuant to Wis. Stat. 19.85 (1) (e) deliberating or negotiating the purchasing of public 
properties, the investing of public funds or conducting other specified public business, 
whenever competitive or bargaining reasons require a closed session - SCEDC 

 
11. Entertain a Motion to go into Open Session: Motion was made by 

Hildebrand/Tauscheck to go into open session. Upon the call of the roll, all voted aye. 
Motion carried. 
 

12. Discussion and Possible Action on Closed Session Item: None 
 

13. Adjourn to 7:00 PM on Tuesday, November 26, 2024: Motion was made by 
Tauscheck/Herrmann to adjourn the meeting. A unanimous aye vote was cast. Motion 
carried.   



Plymouth Utilities
OCTOBER 2024

SALES & REVENUE



October 2024 Electric Sales



October 2024 Electric Revenue

Overall revenue is down from 2023 as a result of reduced PCAC rates. In turn, Purchase Power expense 
is down.



October 2024 Water Revenue



October 2024 Sewer Revenue





Page: 1Transaction Register - by Customer NamePLYMOUTH UTILITIES

Nov 19, 2024 11:21AMDates: 11/19/2024 - 11/19/2024

Report Criteria:

Selected types: Write Off

Name
Customer
Number Type

Reference
Number Description Source ID

Check
Number Amount Msg Service

Write Off

11/19/2024

BEGER, TYA 17.88.25220.33 Write 9 WRITE-OFF BANKRUPTC 401.06- M Multiple

BERTRAM, KAYLA 6.88.80117.24 Write 1 WRITE-OFF SDC 183.34- M Multiple

BURGARD, JEREMEY 13.87.14013.22 Write 2 WRITE-OFF SDC 225.29- M Multiple

DVORAK, KENDRA 6.88.22743.07 Write 3 WRITE-OFF SDC 211.86- M Multiple

FARR, TIFFANY 11.88.49386.31 Write 4 WRITE-OFF SDC 677.95- M Multiple

FREEMAN, AALIYAH 10.88.33816.09 Write 5 WRITE-OFF SDC 127.92- M Multiple

HALLISCH, BUCK 15.87.21300.22 Write 6 WRITE-OFF SDC 206.52- M Multiple

KULISCH, SCOTT 14.87.04980.23 Write 7 WRITE-OFF SDC 448.06- M Multiple

MEDINA, EMILIO 17.88.16187.19 Write 8 WRITE-OFF SDC 135.28- M Multiple

Total 11/19/2024: 2,617.28-

Total Write Off: 2,617.28-

Grand Totals: 2,617.28-

Msg: M= Manually Allocated    F= Final Bill



Plymouth Utilities Transaction Register Page:     1

Report Date(s): 11/19/2024 to 11/19/2024 Nov 19, 2024  11:25AM

Report Criteria:

Types Selected: Balance Write-offs

Customer Applied To Check

Name Number Type Invoice/Reference Description Invoice Number Amount Category

Balance Write-offs

11/19/2024

JEREMY GIERKE 91728 Balance Write-offs 1 Write-Off SDC 5513 418.00-

AT&T  (JOINT USE) 90523 Balance Write-offs 2 Write-off SDC 4882 3,585.67-

Total 11/19/2024: 4,003.67-

Total Balance Write-offs: 4,003.67-

Grand Totals: 4,003.67-



 

 
PLYMOUTH PUBLIC LIBRARY BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

MEETING MINUTES 
October 7, 2024 

 

Meeting was called to order by K. Murray at 6:30 pm.  Present were: S. Britt, B. 
McKnight, K. Murray, M. Hummitzsch, M. Kaczkowski and A. Matzdorf. Absent 
were: P. Norlander and S. Gloede. Also present: Library Director L. Jochman. 
 
Public Comment and Correspondence 
 
There was no public comment or correspondence. 
 
Motion by B, McKnight, second by M. Hummitzsch to approve the minutes with 
revisions of the September 9, 2024 meeting. Motion passed unanimously. 
 
Motion by B McKnight, second by M. Kaczkowski to approve the financial report 
for September 2024.  Motion passed unanimously.  
 
Director L. Jochman reviewed some highlighted items on her monthly report. This 
included an update on the City’s comp and class study, the new event calendar 
and meeting room reservation tool, and credit card processing. 
 
Unfinished Business 
 
The board discussed continued next steps for the library expansion project. As of 
the meeting, the state had still not announced the grant recipients. Board 
members discussed that knowing the status of the grant will determine how the 
project moves forward. 
 
Director L. Jochman updated the board on the marketing planning documents put 
together. The Board discussed more ideas such as asking questions about 
reading choices, trivia, etc. Director L. Jochman encouraged the board to give 
her ideas as they thought of them. 
 
Director L. Jochman updated the board that the next steps for the 2025 budget is 
Common Council approval which will take place in late October, early November. 
 



 

President K. Murray updated the board on the gift cards purchased to recognize 
the staff that went above and beyond assisting with cleaning while the 
maintenance custodian was out and then on light duty. 
 
New Business 
 
Director L. Jochman presented changes to the Donation and Gifts Policy. There 
was discussion about coupons from businesses that include conditions such as 
purchasing an adult meal and getting a child meal free. There was consensus 
that those types of coupons are not a good faith reward for programs and the 
library would continue to not accept them. Motion by S. Britt to approve the policy 
as revised, second by A. Matzdorf. Motion passed unanimously. 
 
Director L. Jochman presented a new Partnership and Sponsorship Policy to 
formalize how the library will promote programs and services in collaboration with 
non-profits and businesses. Motion by B. McKnight to approve the policy as 
written, second by M. Kaczkowski. Motion passed unanimously. 
 
Motion by S. Britt, second by A. Matzdorf to adjourn.  Motion passed.  Meeting 
was adjourned at 7:28 pm. 
 
 

Submitted by, Leslie Jochman 
Library Board Secretary 

 



 

 
 

PLYMOUTH REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 
CITY OF PLYMOUTH, WISCONSIN 

 
THURSDAY, NOVEMBER 7, 2024 

UNOFFICIAL MINUTES 
 

 
1. Call to order and roll call: Chairman Gentine called the meeting to order at 8:53 AM. 

Members present were Lee Gentine, John Nelson, Ken Pannier and Carole O’Malley. Tim 
Blakeslee, Anna Voigt, and Mary Hauser were also in attendance. 
 

2. Approval of Meeting Minutes from the July 22, 2024 meeting: Motion was made by 
O’Malley/Nelson to approve the minutes from July 22. A unanimous aye vote was cast. 
Motion carried. 

 
3. Brief RDA Fund Balance Update: Blakeslee stated there is currently about $106,000 RDA 

Fund Balance.  
 

4. Update on Revolving Loan Fund Program: Blakeslee stated there currently only 2 loans 
out and both are making their payments. There has been one interested party. 
 

5. Discussion and Direction on Pocket Park Statue: Blakeslee explained that in June 2023 
the former Strutz Financial building was demolished. By fall 2023 the RDA, and City had 
approved the installation of a new pocket park by Otter Creek. The park has now reached 
completion with the exception of a potential space designated for a future art installation. A 
subcommittee met in June and decided to get feedback from the public at Mill Street 
Festival. The respondents at the festival favored the “nature” theme. In October 2024 an 
online survey was done to narrow down the “nature” theme. The majority of people in the 
survey liked Tree/Flower concept. The committee decided to look for a statue not to exceed 
$10,000 and something that can withstand the outdoor public elements. Blakeslee stated 
that he will check with other communities and what they did for local artist calls.    

 
6. Communication – Letters, E-mails, or Reports Related to the Redevelopment Authority 

(Staff, Chairperson, Members etc.)  Blakeslee stated that Greatlake Airbrush applied for a 
Façade grant and sign grant.  
 

7. Adjournment: Motion was made by O’Malley/Pannier to adjourn the meeting. A unanimous 
aye vote was cast. Motion carried. 



CITY OF PLYMOUTH, WISCONSIN 
THURSDAY, NOVEMBER 7, 2024 BOARD OF APPEALS 

CITY HALL, ROOM 305 
128 SMITH ST. PLYMOUTH, WI 53073 

 
 

OFFICIAL MINUTES – NOVEMBER 7, 2024 
 

1. Call to order and roll call: The meeting was called to order at 5:00 PM. On call of 
the roll, the following member were present: Carole O’Malley, Bill Barbieur, Jane 
Meyer, and Jackie Pottratz.  
 

2. Approval of December 7, 2023 minutes: Motion was made by Pottratz/Meyer to 
approve the minutes. Barbieur abstained. A unanimous aye vote was cast. Motion 
carried. 
 

3. Public hearing and consideration of a petition from Sargento Food LLC, for a 
sign area variance. This business is located in the B-2, General Business District: 
(Parcel #59271818473) at One Persnickety Place., Plymouth, WI. Sargento Food 
LLC is seeking a variance from PMC 13-1-106(a) for a wall sign on a non-
entrance façade to be larger than the allowed: O’Malley read the petition 
submitted by the applicant. The applicant is requesting a higher wall signage height 
on the western building elevation to allow for business identification signage to be 
located above vision glass towards the top of the building façade for visibility from 
the adjacent arterial right-of-way. The code currently states that all signs not located 
in the HI, LI, and B-3 districts that are attached or affixed to a building shall not 
exceed 20 feet in height above the mean ground grade level. The applicant proposes a 
building wall sign on the west facing elevation with top portion of the sing 
approximately 29 feet above ground-grade level.  

 
O’Malley stated that the Board always likes to suggest other options the applicant 
could consider, like moving the sign to a different spot. City Administrator Blakeslee 
added if the variance is not granted the City could look at updating the code. Mayor 
Pohlman stated the sign code is strict and the City could look at updating it. He 
explained the City doesn’t like to go against code.  
 
Attorney Fieber went through the hardships the first being an unnecessary hardship, 
all the members decided it did not demonstrate an unnecessary hardship. The second 
criteria question is does the property demonstrate unique property limitation, all the 
members decided it did not have unique property limitations. The last criteria to meet 
is to not have harm  to the public interest, the members also agreed the petition does 
no meet this criteria. Motion was made by Pottratz/Meyer to deny the petition from 
Sargento Cheese Inc.  Upon the call of the roll, all vote aye. Motion carried. 

 
4. Adjourn: Motion was made by Barbieur/Meyer to adjourn the meeting. A unanimous 

aye vote was cast. Motion carried. 
 



City of Plymouth Plan Commission 
UNOFFICIAL MINUTES 

NOVEMBER 7, 2024 
 

Mayor Don Pohlman called the meeting to order at 6:00 PM on November 7, 2024. The following 
members were present Jane Meyer, Jeremy Schellin, Greg Hildebrand, Ron Nicolaus, John Wyatt, 
and Justin Schmitz. Also present: City Administrator/Utilities Manager Tim Blakeslee, City Clerk Anna 
Voigt. 
 
         

1.) Approval of Minutes from October 3, 2024: Motion was made by Nicolaus/Schellin to 
approve the minutes from October with a suggestion from Wyatt to add full names instead 
of just last names. A unanimous aye vote was cast. Motion carried.  
 

2.) Site Plan seeking approval; 1 Persnickety Place, Plymouth, WI 53073, dba Sargento 
Cheese, for; a building addition, reconfiguration of current parking lot, construction 
of new parking lot, and reconstruction of public cul-de-sac (per prior development 
agreement). Davis/Excel (enclosure):  A representative from Sargento explained the 
proposal is an addition on to the current front of Lenord Gentine building. The proposal is 
to knock out the bump out that exists on the building and then add 9,100 square foot 
addition that would square out the building. It will be 2 stories. The parking will be 
configured to include ADA stalls with a total of 54 parking stalls. The cul-de-sac will be 
reconstructed per the development agreement. Pohlman asked Blakeslee for any staff 
comments. Blakeslee stated that in staff review the approval will be contingent on 
stormwater management plan and a public infrastructure plan of the public cul-de-sac. The 
applicants will be working directly with Director of Public Work/City Engineer Cathy Austin 
to confirm everything meets City’s standards. Motion was made by Wyatt/Nicolas to 
approve the site plan contingent on the stormwater management plan and public 
infrastructure plan. Upon the call of the roll, all voted aye; Schellin abstained. Motion 
carried. 

 
3.) License Agreement seeking recommendation; Exclusive License Agreement For 

Nutt Ski Hill between City of Plymouth and Cheese Capital Winter Park Inc.: 
Blakeslee explained that since 2014 Nut Ski Hill has not been operational. Cheese Capital 
Winter Park LLC (CCWP) has put together a plan to reestablish Nutt Ski Hill for winter 
activities. In 2023 CCWP presented the concept to the Committee of the Whole seeking 
feedback before further logistical and fundraising efforts. On April 2024 CCWP presented 
their updated concept to Committee of Whole. At the meeting on May 15, 2024 Common 
Council directed staff to negotiate a lease the CCWP. Staff has discussed the terms of the 
agreement with the Council. The direction from the meeting on October 29 is that the 
negotiated terms are agreeable to the CCWP and the Council. Blakeslee explained that 
Common Council has final approval the Plan Commission must review and provide a 
recommendation on leases of public property. Joe VanDerven from CCWP presented the 
plans for Nutt Ski Hill including have a tubing area and skiing area with a magic carpet up 
the middle. Schellin asked if the magic carpet would be used for both the skiers and 
tubing. VanDerven stated yes. VanDerven asked if there would be anything at the bottom 
of the hill as a collection point or someway to manage lines. VanDerven stated there would 
be snow fence or something temporary to manage the traffic flow. The group would like to 
open for the winter 2025/2026. Blakeslee added this is an Exclusive License Agreement, 
granting CCWP exclusive rights to utilize the ski hill during the agreement period. CCWP 



is responsible for improvements to the Ski Hill. The City retains ownership of fixed 
improvements, while CCWP retains ownership of equipment as outlined. Snow making 
equipment is property of CCWP. The hill may be open during normal park hours unless 
alternative hours are approved by the City Administrator. CCWP may rent the property to 
third-party groups and decide on the fees to be charged for the hill.  CCWP may make 
snow 15 days per year as needed, and may make snow and groom during City Park hours 
and up to 1 hour after park closure. Lighting shall be turned off one hour after park closure. 
Snow making may include lights on the groomer or snowmobile. Liens may not be placed 
against the Ski Hill. CCWP will remove snow from walking areas and parking lot. CCWP 
will receive a stipend of $11,000 per year as City support. Noise needs to comply with city 
code. The City Forester will inventory existing trees on the Ski Hill and approve tree 
removal. For each live tree with a 3-inch caliper removed, CCWP will replace with a 1-1.5 
caliper tree. CCWP may use Nutt Hill in marketing materials, grant sponsorships rights to 
the Ski Hill, and construct signage. Motion was made by Hildebrand/Nicolaus to 
recommend Council approve the Nutt Ski Hill Exclusive License with Cheese Capital 
Winter Park LLC. Hildebrand asked what the name was going to be on the sign. 
VanDerven answered Nutt Ski Hill. Nicolaus asked where the ice rank was going to go. 
VanDerven stated that was in phase 2 and up by the parking lot. Schellin asked what the 
perimeter of the area was going to be. VanDerven stated there wasn’t going to be one, 
there will be a security camera. Wyatt asked if there will be anything to deter people from 
going on private property. VanDerven there will potentially be some snow fencing, but 
most properties already have fencing. They also want to be conscious that they may not 
want to be looking at snow fencing. It was mentioned to put a berm up and residence 
asked them not to put a berm. Upon the call of the roll, all voted aye. Motion carried.  

 
4.) Ordinance Amendment seeking recommendation; Modifications amending Section 

13-1-28 - High Density R6-Multi-Family Residential District: Blakeslee explained that 
this Ordinance has come to the Plan Commission a few times. The R6 district was created 
back in March, had minor tweaks in April. Since a district was created staff has been 
finding out different ways developers and building designers want to use the district. What 
the City is finding is the 600 minimum square per dwelling unit is very strict. The city has 
heard they may want to do multiple floors that are smaller than that, or small studio unit. 
Blakeslee did a review of other municipalities commonly 500 to 550 sq ft. Proposed 
change is to say average of 600 sq. ft. per dwelling unit would provide some flexibility but 
didn’t want to permit extremely small units. A minimum of500 sq. ft. is the smallest a unit 
can be or unit per floor. The goal is to not have a bunch of extremely small studio units, 
but this provides flexibility for developers. Wyatt asked if this was similar to other 
communities and their requirements. Blakeslee confirmed this is very similar to other 
communities. Motion was made by Nicolaus/Schellin to recommend Council approve 
Ordinance Amending Section 13-1-28 High Density R-6 Multi-Family Residential District. 
Nicolaus asked if this included garages. Blakeslee stated that this is only living space. 
Upon the call of the roll, all voted aye. Motion carried. 

 
5.) Ordinance Amendment seeking recommendation; Modifications of Section 13-1-193 

regarding voting on zoning code amendments: Blakeslee explained that this is a clean 
up item. In 2023 Wis. Act 16 state legislature basically enacted a requirement that 
communities can no longer have protest petition ordinance expect for some specific 
requirements that is called a down zoning, when you are going from a higher density to a 
lower density or for an airport. Attorney Fieber has drafted an ordinance that removes the 
protest petition requirements. This would take effect on January 1, 2025. Motion was 
made by Wyatt/Hildebrand to recommend Council approve Ordinance 13-1-193 regarding 
voting on zoning code amendments. Upon the call of the roll, all voted aye. Motion carried.  



 
6.) Ordinance Amendment seeking recommendation; Modifications of Section 13-1-105 

regarding political message signs.: Blakeslee explained the US Supreme Court 
invalidated a sign ordinance that regulated the content of certain political signs as a 
violation of the First Amendment free speech in Reed V. Town of Gilbert. As a result of the 
Reed decision, the City of Plymouth must update its zoning code. Although the State of 
Wisconsin has not repealed Wis Stat. 12.04, which governs political message 
communication at the state level, the statute’s validity is now uncertain. There were some 
questions about political signs during the recent election and Attorney Fieber’s 
recommendation is to repeal 13-1-105, which specifically regulates political signs. And 
updated 13-1-104 to allow each residential property up to three signs during election 
campaign periods. City is allowed to regulate number of signs, total signage size and 
display period, provided content is not regulated. This code would create an election 
campaign period, which designates a period of time in which people can have up to 3 
signs, which what it is now, but the code will remove any content regulations. You could 
have tree signs for a craft fair during that time period. Motion was made by 
Schmitz/Niclaus to recommend Council approve Ordinance Modifications of Section 13-1-
105 regarding political message signs. Schellin asked if the signs can be regulated on any 
content like public decency. Blakeslee stated can’t be regulate on what the content is, but 
he would look to see if there is anything for public decency. Schellin stated he just wants 
to make sure the City could do something if there was a sign that was clearly over the line. 
Mayor Pohlman added there was always restrictions on content that had four letter words.  
Wyatt asked for clarification if they could be anything doesn’t have to be political in nature. 
Blakeslee stated it could be anything. Blakeslee added their immoral signs are listed under 
prohibited sign in the municipal code. Upon the call of the roll, all voted aye. Motion 
carried.     
 

7.) Communication – Letters, E-mails, or reports Related to the Plan Commission 
(Chairman, Secretary, Plan Commission Members, City of Plymouth Staff/Alderpersons): 
Blakeslee informed the Commission the Wangard Development Agreement was finalized 
at Common Council. 

 
8.) Motion was made by Wyatt/Nicolaus to adjourn the meeting. A unanimous aye vote was 

cast. Motion carried.  
 







 

 
 
 
City of Plymouth 
128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107 
Plymouth, WI  53073-0107 
  
 

 
  
 

 
 
 

Telephone: (920) 893-1271 
Facsimile: (920) 893-0183 

     Web Site:        plymouthgov.com 
 
 

 
DATE:  November 21, 2024 

TO:  Mayor and Common Council  

FROM: Tim Blakeslee, City Administrator/Utilities Manager  

RE: Ordinance No. 22 an ordinance amending Section 13-1-28 - High Density R6-
Multi-Family Residential District. 

 
Background: In March and April 2024, the Common Council, upon recommendation of the Plan 
Commission, adopted a new R6 zoning district to allow for the construction of larger multi-family 
units in Plymouth if a property were to become zoned R6.  Tweaks were adopted in May 2024 to 
allow for greater flexibility regarding different building sizes. As with any new code, minor tweaks 
are often needed to adjust and meet the proposed intentions of the district.   
 
As previously approved, the new R6 district was created with what could be interpreted a strict 
600 minimum square per dwelling unit on any one floor for a multi-family dwelling. Upon further 
review, Staff realized that this could limit a development that would want to incorporate diverse 
unit sizes on multiple floors of a multi-unit development. The intent of the code is to not allow a 
number of extremely small units as part of a development.   
 
Staff review of other municipalities notes that minimums per dwelling unit per floor in other 
communities for high-density zoning districts are commonly 500 sq ft. or 550 sq ft. (some are even 
lower). The proposed change to the code would be to make the following adjustment:  

• 13-1-28(e)1 Minimum dwelling unit floor space: (a): Average of Six six hundred square 
feet per dwelling unit on any one floor for of a multi-family dwelling except that no individual 
unit shall have floor space of less than five hundred square feet on any one floor.” 

 
This adjustment conforms to the intent of the code and maintains a minimum threshold, but 
provides the additional flexibility for developers.  
 
Plan Commission Recommendation: At the meeting on November 7, 2024, the Plan 
Commission unanimously recommended modifications of Section 13-1-28 - High Density R6-
Multi-Family Residential District to the Common Council.  
 
Recommendation: 
Motion to approve ordinance No. 22 an ordinance amending Section 13-1-28 - High Density R6-
Multi-Family Residential District. 
 
Attachment: 

1. Proposed Draft Ordinance 
 



CITY OF PLYMOUTH
Ordinance No. ________ of 2024

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 13-1-28 OF THE 
GENERAL CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF PLYMOUTH, WISCONSIN 

REGARDING MINIMUM DWELLING UNIT FLOOR SPACE IN THE 
R-6, HIGH DENSITY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT

WHEREAS, the R-6 high density residential district is intended to provide for 
larger building size and density than the R-4 multi-family residential district; and

WHEREAS, the Common Council wishes to create greater flexibility in the R-6 
district as it relates to unit floor space within a multi-family dwelling unit; and

WHEREAS, a Class 2 notice of public hearing on the herein ordinance, pursuant 
to Wis. Stat. § 62.23 was published in the Plymouth Review and held before the 
Common Council; and  

WHEREAS, the Plan Commission has reviewed the herein ordinance and 
recommends adoption; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Common Council of the City of Plymouth, Wisconsin, 
does hereby ordain as follows:

Section 1. Amending Code. Section 13-1-28(e)(1) of the City of Plymouth 
General Ordinances is hereby amended to read as follows (deletions indicated by 
strikeout; insertions by underline):  

“(e) Building requirements.

(1) Minimum dwelling unit floor space.

a. Average of Sixsix hundred square feet per dwelling unit 
on any one floor for of a multi-family dwelling except 
that no individual unit shall have floor space of less 
than five hundred square feet on any one floor.”

Section 2. Severability.  Should any portion of this Ordinance or the affected 
Municipal Code Section be declared unconstitutional or invalid by a court of competent 
jurisdiction, the remainder shall not be affected.

Section 3. Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall take effect the day after 
publication.



Enacted on November _______ , 2024.

CITY OF PLYMOUTH

DONALD O. POHLMAN, Mayor

Date: 

CLERK'S CERTIFICATE OF ENACTMENT

I hereby certify that the foregoing Ordinance was duly enacted by the City of 
Plymouth Common Council and approved by the Mayor on the dates indicated above.

Dated: , 2024
ANNA VOIGT, Clerk

9431\267073



 

 
 
 
City of Plymouth 
128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107 
Plymouth, WI  53073-0107 
  
 

 
  
 

 
 
 

Telephone: (920) 893-1271 
Facsimile: (920) 893-0183 

     Web Site:        plymouthgov.com 
 
 

 
DATE:  November 21, 2024 

TO:  Mayor and Common Council 

FROM: Tim Blakeslee, City Administrator/Utilities Manager  

RE: Ordinance No. 23 Amending Section 13-1-193 regarding voting on zoning code 
amendments  

 
Background: In 2023 Wis. Act 16, the state legislature created Wis. Stat. § 66.10015(3)(a), 
effective January 1, 2025, which provides that the enactment of a zoning amendment shall be 
approved by a simple majority of a quorum of the members-elect of the governing body, except 
in the case of a “down zoning ordinance,” as defined in Wis. Stat. § 66.10015(1)(as), or when an 
airport protest petition is filed pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 62.23(7)(d)2m. 
 
To provide for consistency between the newly created Wis. Stat. § 66.10015 and the City Zoning 
Code, the Common Council must remove the now-prohibited supermajority requirements for 
proposed zoning amendments from the Zoning Code. 
 
The draft ordinance removes these prohibited supermajority requirements, with staff 
recommending it take effect on January 1, 2025. 
 
Plan Commission Recommendation: At the meeting on November 7, 2024, the Plan 
Commission unanimously recommended modifications of Section 13-1-193 regarding voting on 
zoning code amendments 
 
Recommendation: 
Motion to approve Ordinance No. 23 An Ordinance Amending Section 13-1-193 regarding voting 
on zoning code amendments effective on January 1, 2025. 
 
Attachment: 

1. Proposed Draft Ordinance 
 



CITY OF PLYMOUTH 
Ordinance No. ________ of 2024 

 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 13-1-192(d) AND  
REPEALING SECTION 13-1-193 OF THE CITY OF  

PLYMOUTH, WISCONSIN ZONING CODE REGARDING 
VOTING ON ZONING CODE AMENDMENTS 

 
 
 WHEREAS, 2017 Wis. Act 243 repealed Wis. Stat. § 62.23(7)(d)2m.a, which required 
a three-quarter vote by the governing body to approve a proposed ordinance amendment when 
a valid protest petition was filed with the municipality; and 
 

WHEREAS, Section 13-1-193 of the Zoning Code was adopted to reflect the 
supermajority requirement set forth in Wis. Stat. § 62.23(7)(d)2m.a, and remained in effect 
after repeal of the state statute; and 

 
WHEREAS, City Zoning Code section 13-1-192(d) requires a three-quarter vote of the 

full Common Council to override the Plan Commission’s recommendation on zoning 
amendments; and 
 
 WHEREAS, in 2023 Wis. Act 16, the state legislature created Wis. Stat. 
§ 66.10015(3)(a), effective January 1, 2025, which provides that the enactment of a zoning 
amendment shall be approved by a simple majority of a quorum of the members-elect of the 
governing body, except in the case of a “down zoning ordinance,” as defined in Wis. Stat. 
§ 66.10015(1)(as), or when an airport protest petition is filed pursuant to Wis. Stat. 
§ 62.23(7)(d)2m; and 
 
 WHEREAS, to provide for consistency between the newly created Wis. Stat. 
§ 66.10015 and the City Zoning Code, the Common Council must remove the now-prohibited 
supermajority requirements for proposed zoning amendments from the Zoning Code; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Plan Commission has reviewed the proposed amendments to Zoning 
Code section 13-1-192 and repeal of section 13-1-193 and has recommended approval of the 
same; and  
 
 WHEREAS, a Class 2 notice of public hearing pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 62.23 was 
published in the Plymouth Review; and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 62.23(7) the Common Council has determined the 
herein amendments to the Zoning Code promote the health, safety, and general welfare of the 
community. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, the Common Council of the City of Plymouth, Wisconsin, does 
hereby ordain as follows: 
 
 Section 1. Amending Code.  Section 13-1-192 of the City of Plymouth Zoning 
Code, is hereby amended as follows (deletions indicated by strikethrough; insertions by 
underline): 
 



 
Page 2 of 2 

“SEC.13-1-192 
 

(d) Council’s action.  Following such hearing and after consideration of the 
plan commission's recommendations, the common council shall vote 
on the proposed ordinance effecting the proposed change or 
amendment. A three-fourth vote of the full common council 
membership is required to override the plan commission's 
determination. The enactment of a zoning amendment shall be 
approved by a simple majority of a quorum of the member-elect of the 
Common Council.  The Common Council may enact a down zoning 
ordinance, as defined in Wis. Stat. § 66.10015(1)(as), only if the 
ordinance is approved by at least two-thirds of the members-elect, 
except that if the down zoning ordinance is requested, or agreed to, by 
the person who owns the land affected by the proposed ordinance, the 
ordinance may be enacted by a simple majority of the members-elect.”
  

 
Section 2. Repealing Code.  Section 13-1-193, Protest, is hereby repealed in its 

entirety. 
 
Section 3. Severability.  Should any portion of this Ordinance or the affected 

Municipal Code Section be declared unconstitutional or invalid by a court of competent 
jurisdiction, the remainder shall not be affected. 
 
 Section 4. Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall take effect the day after 
publication. 
 
 Enacted on September _____, 2024. 
 
 
      CITY OF PLYMOUTH 
 
 
             
      DONALD O. POHLMAN, Mayor 
 
      Date:        
 
 
 

CLERK'S CERTIFICATE OF ENACTMENT 
 
 I hereby certify that the foregoing Ordinance was duly enacted by the City of Plymouth 
Common Council and approved by the Mayor on the dates indicated above. 
 
 
Dated:     , 2024         
      ANNA VOIGT, City Clerk 



 

 
 
 
City of Plymouth 
128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107 
Plymouth, WI  53073-0107 
  
 

 
  
 

 
 
 

Telephone: (920) 893-1271 
Facsimile: (920) 893-0183 

     Web Site:        plymouthgov.com 
 
 

 
DATE:  November 21, 2024 

TO:  Mayor and Common Council  

FROM: Tim Blakeslee, City Administrator/Utilities Manager  

RE: Ordinance No. 24 An Ordinance Amending Section 13-1-105 regarding political 
message signs.   

 
 
Background: The United States Supreme Court unanimously invalidated a sign ordinance that 
regulated the content of certain political signs as a violation of First Amendment free speech in 
Reed v. Town of Gilbert. As a result of the Reed decision, the City of Plymouth must update its 
zoning code. Although the State of Wisconsin has not repealed Wis. Stat. § 12.04, which governs 
political message communication at the state level, the statute’s validity is now uncertain. 
 
The attached draft ordinance repeals section 13-1-105 of the Plymouth Municipal Code, which 
specifically addresses the content of political message signs. Additionally, this ordinance updates 
section 13-1-104 to allow each residential property up to three signs during election campaign 
periods. According to Attorney Fieber, the City can regulate the number of signs, total signage 
size, and display period, provided content is not regulated. This change aligns the code with the 
intent of the code to provide a balance of permitted signage on property and protect the aesthetic 
quality of the City. 
 
Plan Commission Recommendation: At the meeting on November 7, 2024, the Plan 
Commission recommended modifications of Section 13-1-193 regarding voting on zoning code 
amendments by a vote of 6-0 (1 abstention). 
 
Recommendation: 
Motion to approve Ordinance No. 24 An Ordinance Amending Section 13-1-105 regarding political 
message signs.  
 
Attachment: 

1. Proposed Draft Ordinance 
 



Page 1 of 2

CITY OF PLYMOUTH
Ordinance No. ________ of 2024

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 13-1-104 AND 
REPEALING SECTION 13-1-105 OF THE CITY OF 

PLYMOUTH, WISCONSIN ZONING CODE REGARDING
POLITICAL MESSAGE SIGNS

WHEREAS, the United States Supreme Court unanimously struck down a local 
government’s sign ordinance that regulated the content of certain signs as a violation of the 
First Amendment freedom of speech in Reed v. Town of Gilbert (135 S. Ct. 2218); and

WHEREAS, as a result of the Reed decision, it is necessary and proper for the City of 
Plymouth to update its zoning code; and

WHEREAS, the State of Wisconsin legislature has not repealed Wis. Stat. § 12.04, 
which governs the communication of political messages in response to the Reed decision, but 
such statute now has questionable validity; and 

WHEREAS, it is appropriate to regulate signs within the City of Plymouth boundaries 
to protect the aesthetic quality of the City and reduce the potential to create traffic and other 
public safety hazards; and

WHEREAS, the Plan Commission has reviewed the proposed repeal of section 
13-1-105 and has recommended approval of the same; and 

WHEREAS, a Class 2 notice of public hearing pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 62.23 was 
published in the Plymouth Review; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 62.23(7) the Common Council has determined the 
herein amendments to the Zoning Code promote the health, safety, and general welfare of the 
community.

NOW, THEREFORE, the Common Council of the City of Plymouth, Wisconsin, does 
hereby ordain as follows:

Section 1. Amending Code.  Section 13-1-104(f)(5) of the City of Plymouth 
General Ordinances is hereby amended to read as follows (deletions indicated by 
strikethrough; insertions by underline):

“(5) During the 40-day period December 1 to January 10, a property owner may 
place one temporary sign on the property in addition to those temporary signs 
otherwise allowed in this subsection (f).



Page 2 of 2

a.(6) During an election campaign period, each residential property may have 
up to three signs.  No sign may be larger than 11 square feet.

a. Election campaign period means:

1. In the case of an election for office, the period beginning on the 
first day for circulation of nomination papers by candidates, or 
the first day on which candidates would circulate nomination 
papers were papers to be required, and ending on the day of 
the election. 

2. In the case of a referendum, the period beginning on the day on 
which the question to be voted upon is submitted to the 
electorate and ending on the day on which the referendum is 
held.”

Section 2. Repealing Code.  Section 13-1-105, Political Message Signs, is hereby 
repealed in its entirety.

Section 3. Severability.  Should any portion of this Ordinance or the affected 
Municipal Code Section be declared unconstitutional or invalid by a court of competent 
jurisdiction, the remainder shall not be affected.

Section 4. Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall take effect the day after 
publication.

Enacted on November _____, 2024.

CITY OF PLYMOUTH

DONALD O. POHLMAN, Mayor

Date: 

CLERK'S CERTIFICATE OF ENACTMENT

I hereby certify that the foregoing Ordinance was duly enacted by the City of Plymouth 
Common Council and approved by the Mayor on the dates indicated above.

Dated: , 2024
ANNA VOIGT, City Clerk



 

 
 
 
City of Plymouth 
128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107 
Plymouth, WI  53073-0107 
  
 

 
  
 

 
 
 

Telephone: (920) 893-1271 
Facsimile: (920) 893-0183 

     Web Site:        plymouthgov.com 
 
 

 
DATE:  November 21, 2024 

TO:  Mayor and Common Council  

FROM: Tim Blakeslee, City Administrator/Utilities Manager  

RE: Ordinance No. 25 An Ordinance Creating Section 12-1-10 of the General Code 
of Ordinances of the City of Plymouth, Wisconsin Related to Nutt Ski Hill Park  

 
Background: At the meeting on November 12, 2024, the City entered into an Exclusive License 
Agreement with Cheese Capital Winter Park, Inc. to provide winter recreational activities at Nutt 
Ski Hill. Given the unique nature of the agreement, which licenses Nutt Ski Hill to Cheese Capital 
Winter Park, Inc., this draft ordinance creates Section 12-1-10 of the City Code. This new section 
specifies that in cases of inconsistencies between Chapter 12 of the City Code and the license 
agreement, the license agreement will take precedence. 
 
Recommendation: 
Motion to approve Ordinance No. 25 An Ordinance Creating Section 12-1-10 of the General Code 
of Ordinances of the City of Plymouth, Wisconsin Related to Nutt Ski Hill Park 
 
Attachment: 

1. Proposed Draft Ordinance 
 



CITY OF PLYMOUTH
Ordinance No. ________ of 2024

AN ORDINANCE CREATING SECTION 12-1-10 OF THE 
GENERAL CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF PLYMOUTH, WISCONSIN 

RELATED TO NUTT SKI HILL PARK

WHEREAS, the Nutt Ski Hill is an approximately seven (7) acre City park located 
at 750 W. Main Street in the City of Plymouth; and 

WHEREAS, the Common Council has entered into an Exclusive License 
Agreement with Cheese Capital Winter Park, Inc. to provide winter recreational activities 
at the Nutt Ski Hill (the “Agreement”); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Agreement, the Common Council has authorized 
certain activities and delegated certain responsibilities to Cheese Capital Winter Park, 
Inc. related to the operation and use of Nutt Ski Hill; and  

WHEREAS, the Common Council finds it serves the best interest of the general 
public to create section 12-1-10 of the City Code related to the Nutt Ski Hill; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Common Council of the City of Plymouth, Wisconsin, 
does hereby ordain as follows:

Section 1. Creating Code.  Section 12-1-10, Nutt Ski Hill, of the City of 
Plymouth General Ordinances is hereby created to read as follows:

“Sec. 12-1-10 – Nutt Ski Hill.

To the extent the Exclusive License Agreement between the City of 
Plymouth and the Cheese Capital Winter Park, Inc. (or its successors or 
assigns) agreement, on file in the City Clerk’s Office, is inconsistent with 
the provisions of Title 12, the terms of the Exclusive License Agreement 
shall control.”

Section 2. Severability.  Should any portion of this Ordinance or the affected 
Municipal Code Section be declared unconstitutional or invalid by a court of competent 
jurisdiction, the remainder shall not be affected.

Section 3. Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall take effect the day after 
publication.



Enacted on November _______ , 2024.

CITY OF PLYMOUTH

DONALD O. POHLMAN, Mayor

Date: 

CLERK'S CERTIFICATE OF ENACTMENT

I hereby certify that the foregoing Ordinance was duly enacted by the City of 
Plymouth Common Council and approved by the Mayor on the dates indicated above.

Dated: , 2024
ANNA VOIGT, Clerk

9431\272086



 

 
 
 
City of Plymouth 
128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107 
Plymouth, WI  53073-0107 
  
 

 
  
 

 
 
 

Telephone: (920) 893-1271 
Facsimile: (920) 893-0183 

     Web Site:        plymouthgov.com 
 
 

 
DATE:  November 21, 2024 

TO:  Mayor and Common Council  

FROM: Tim Blakeslee, City Administrator/Utilities Manager  

RE: Resolution No. 12 Declaring Official Intent to Reimburse Expenditures from 
Proceeds of Bonding. 

 
Background: As part of the 2025 Capital Improvement Plan, the City plans to issue debt for the 
Mill Pond Dam, Collins Street Reconstruction, and the Electric Storage Building. Since the bonds 
will not be issued before these projects commence, the City must provide interim financing using 
fund balance to cover costs incurred prior to receiving bond proceeds. Work has already begun 
or will begin soon on design, engineering, regulatory filings, and other aspects of these projects. 
This resolution is standard in the industry and was recommended by the City's financial advisor, 
Ehlers. An agreement with Ehlers to issue bonds on the City's behalf will appear on the next 
council agenda, with the anticipated bond closure date set for May 1, 2025. 
 
Additionally, as part of the success and closure of TID #4, the City will see a Levy Limit Adjustment 
of approximately $370,000 in 2026. This adjustment will be used to mitigate the overall tax levy 
impact related to the proposed City debt over the next three years. 
 
Recommendation: 
Motion to approve Resolution No. 12 Declaring Official Intent to Reimburse Expenditures from 
Proceeds of Bonding. 
 
Attachment: 

• Draft resolution.  



RESOLUTION NO. 
------

RESOLUTION DECLARING OFFICIAL INTENT 
TO REIMBURSE EXPENDITURES 

FROM PROCEEDS OF BORROWING 

WHEREAS, the City of Plymouth (the "Issuer") plans to undertake projects included 
in its 2025 Capital Improvement Plan such as those included in the attached Table 1 - Capital 

Improvement  Plan (collectively, the "Project"); 

WHEREAS, the Issuer expects to finance the Project on a long-term basis by issuing 
tax-exempt bonds or other tax-exempt obligations (collectively, the "Bonds"); 

WHEREAS, because the Bonds will not be issued prior to commencement of the 
Project, the Issuer must provide interim financing to cover costs of the Project incurred prior to 
receipt of the proceeds of the Bonds; and 

WHEREAS, the Common Council (the "Governing Body") of the Issuer deems it to 
be necessary, desirable, and in the best interests of the Issuer to advance moneys from its 
funds on hand on an interim basis to pay the costs of the Project until the Bonds are issued. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Governing Body of the Issuer that: 

Section 1. Expenditure of Funds. The Issuer shall make expenditures as needed from 
its funds on hand to pay the cost of the Project until proceeds of the Bonds become available. 

Section 2. Declaration of Official Intent. The Issuer hereby officially declares its 
intent under Treas. Reg. Section 1.150-2 to reimburse said expenditures with proceeds of the 
Bonds, the principal amount of which is not expected to exceed $4,200,000. 

Section 3. Unavailability of Long-Term Funds. No funds for payment of the Project 

from sources other than the Bonds are, or are reasonably expected to be, reserved, allocated on a 
long-term basis, or otherwise set aside by the Issuer pursuant to its budget or financial policies. 

Section 4. Public Availability of Official Intent Resolution. The Resolution shall be 
made available for public inspection at the office of the Issuer's Clerk within 30 days after its 
approval in compliance with applicable State law governing the availability of records of official 
acts including Subchapter II of Chapter 19, and shall remain available for public inspection until 
the Bonds are issued. 

QB\92935495.1 



Section 5. Effective Date. This Resolution shall be effective upon its adoption and 
approval. 

Adopted and recorded November 26, 2024 

Approved November 26, 2024 

ATTEST: 

Anna Voigt 
City Clerk 

- 2 -

Donald Pohlman 
Mayor 

(SEAL) 

QB\92935495.1 



Table 1

Capital Improvement Plan & Funding Uses
City of Plymouth, WI

Projects Purpose/Dept. Plan Issue Funding 2025 2026 2027 Totals

Mill Pond Dam Dam 2025 G.O. Notes G.O. Debt 1,500,000 1,500,000

Road Project Streets 2025 G.O. Notes G.O. Debt 500,000 500,000

Road Project Utilities Utility 2025 G.O. Notes G.O. Debt 500,000 500,000

Electric Storage Building Electric 2025 G.O. Notes G.O. Debt 1,700,000 1,700,000

Grove Street Streets 2026 G.O. Notes G.O. Debt 500,000 500,000

City Park Parks 2026 G.O. Notes G.O. Debt 1,000,000 1,000,000

Grove Street Utilities Utility 2026 G.O. Notes G.O. Debt 500,000 500,000

Lap Pool Pool 2026 G.O. Notes G.O. Debt 2,000,000 2,000,000

Fire Truck Fire 2027 G.O. Notes G.O. Debt 2,000,000 2,000,000

Actual CIP Costs 4,200,000 4,000,000 2,000,000 10,200,000

 Sources of Funding 

 G.O. Debt 4,200,000 4,000,000 2,000,000 10,200,000

Total 4,200,000 4,000,000 2,000,000 10,200,000

 Debt Obligations 

2025 G.O. Notes 4,200,000 0 0 4,200,000

2026 G.O. Notes 0 4,000,000 0 4,000,000

2027 G.O. Notes 0 0 2,000,000 2,000,000

Total 4,200,000 4,000,000 2,000,000 10,200,000

Notes:

Financing Plan Plymouth 2025 11.18.24 v3

Prepared 11/19/2024



 

 
 
 
City of Plymouth 
128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107 
Plymouth, WI  53073-0107 
  
 

 
  
 

 
 
 

Telephone: (920) 893-3745 
Facsimile: (920) 893-0183 

     Web Site:        plymouthgov.com 
 
 

 
DATE:  November 21, 2024 

TO:  Mayor and Common Council 
 
FROM: Tim Blakeslee, City Administrator/Utilities Manager  
 
RE: Discussion and Possible Action of Agreement with Ehlers Regarding TID #8 

Services  
 
Background: At the Committee of the Whole, a presentation highlighted the exciting and 
upcoming improvements to the Laack Block. As part of these potential improvements, staff 
proposes investigating the feasibility of implementing a Tax Increment District (TID) to capture 
future tax increment generated by the Laack Project. This would help finance public improvements 
needed to facilitate the project and enhance downtown as a whole. 
 
The attached agreement directs Ehlers to support staff in evaluating whether establishing a TID 
in this area is feasible and in the best interests of Plymouth. If feasible, Ehlers will also prepare 
the required documents to facilitate its creation. 
 
The cost of the proposal is $14,000. Ehlers has the financial expertise to guide staff and the 
Common Council on TIDs and supports the proposal as presented. If TID #8 is created, the costs 
of this agreement can be reimbursed from TID #8. If not, costs will be covered by the general fund 
contingency. Please note that this agreement with Ehlers does not formally create TID #8. The 
actual TID creation process, governed by state law, will require approval from the Common 
Council and Joint Review Board. This process will follow a similar approach to the recently created 
TID #7. 
 
Staff Recommendation:  

• Motion to Approve Agreement with Ehlers Regarding TID #8 Services 
 
Attachments: 

• Draft Proposal 
 
 



____________________________________________________________________________________________

Documentation of Municipal Advisor Relationship 1
Ehlers & Associates, Inc.                                                                                                             October 22, 2024

October 22, 2024

Tim Blakeslee, City Administrator/Utilities Manager
City of Plymouth, Wisconsin
128 Smith St
PO Box 107
Plymouth, WI 53073

Re: Written Municipal Advisor Client Disclosure with the City of Plymouth (“Client”) for 2025
Creation of Tax Incremental District No. 8 (“Project” Pursuant to MSRB Rule G-42)

Dear Tim:

As a registered Municipal Advisor, we are required by Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board
(MSRB) Rules to provide you with certain written information and disclosures prior to, upon
or promptly, after the establishment of a municipal advisory relationship as defined in
Securities and Exchange Act Rule 15Ba1-1.  To establish our engagement as your Municipal
Advisor, we must inform you that:

When providing advice, we are required to act in a fiduciary capacity, which includes a1.
duty of loyalty and a duty of care.  This means we are required to act solely in your
best interest.
We have an obligation to fully and fairly disclose to you in writing all material actual or2.
potential conflicts of interest that might impair our ability to render unbiased and
competent advice to you.  We are providing these and other required disclosures in
Appendix A attached hereto.

As your Municipal Advisor, Ehlers shall provide this advice and service at such fees, as
described within Appendix B attached hereto.

This documentation and all appendices hereto shall be effective as of its date unless
otherwise terminated by either party upon 30 days written notice to the other party.

During the term of our municipal advisory relationship, this writing might be amended or
supplemented to reflect any material change or additions.

We look forward to working with you on this Project.

Sincerely,

Ehlers & Associates

Kayla Thorpe
Associate Municipal Advisor

_______________

1   This document is intended to satisfy the requirements of MSRB Rule G-42(b) and Rule G-42(c).



____________________________________________________________________________________________

Documentation of Municipal Advisor Relationship – Appendix A Page 1
Ehlers                                                                                                                                               October 22, 2024

Appendix A

DISCLOSURE OF CONFLICTS OF INTEREST/OTHER REQUIRED
INFORMATION

Actual/Potential Material Conflicts of Interest
Ehlers has no known actual or potential material conflicts of interest that might
impair its ability either to render unbiased and competent advice or to fulfill its
fiduciary duty to Client.

Other Engagements or Relationships Impairing Ability to Provide Advice
Ehlers is not aware of any other engagement or relationship Ehlers has that might
impair Ehlers’ ability to either render unbiased and competent advice to or to fulfill
its fiduciary duty to Client.

Affiliated Entities
Ehlers offers related services through two affiliates of Ehlers, Bond Trust Service
Corporation (BTSC) and Ehlers Investment Partners (EIP).  BTSC provides paying
agent services while Ehlers Investment Partners (EIP) provides investment related
services and bidding agent service. Ehlers and these affiliates do not share fees.  If
either service is needed in conjunction with an Ehlers municipal advisory
engagement, Client will be asked whether or not they wish to retain either affiliate to
provide service. If BTSC or EIP are retained to provide service, a separate agreement
with that affiliate will be provided for Client’s consideration and approval.

Solicitors/Payments Made to Obtain/Retain Client Business
Ehlers does not use solicitors to secure municipal engagements; nor does it make
direct or indirect payments to obtain or retain Client business.

Payments from Third Parties
Ehlers does not receive any direct or indirect payments from third parties to enlist
Ehlers recommendation to the Client of its services, any municipal securities
transaction or any financial product.

Payments/Fee-splitting Arrangements
Ehlers does not share fees with any other parties and any provider of investments or
services to the Client.  However, within a joint proposal with other professional
service providers, Ehlers could be the contracting party or be a subcontractor to the
contracting party resulting in a fee splitting arrangement. In such cases, the fee due
Ehlers will be identified in a Municipal Advisor writing and no other fees will be paid
to Ehlers from any of the other participating professionals in the joint proposal.

Municipal Advisor Registration
Ehlers is registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) and
Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (MSRB).



____________________________________________________________________________________________

Documentation of Municipal Advisor Relationship – Appendix A Page 2
Ehlers October 22, 2024

Material Legal or Disciplinary Events
Neither Ehlers nor any of its officers or municipal advisors have been involved in any
legal or disciplinary events reported on Form MA or MA-I nor are there any other
material legal or disciplinary events to be reported.  Ehlers’ application for permanent
registration as a Municipal Advisor with the (SEC) was granted on July 28, 2014 and
contained the information prescribed under Section 15B(a)(2) of the Securities and
Exchange Act of 1934 and rules thereunder. It did not list any information on legal or
disciplinary disclosures.

Client may access Ehlers’ most recent Form MA and each most recent Form MA-I by
searching the Securities and Exchange Commission’s EDGAR system (currently
available at http://www.sec.gov/edgar/searchedgar/companysearch.html) and
searching under either our Company Name (Ehlers & Associates, Inc.) or by using the
currently available “Fast Search” function and entering our CIK number
(0001604197).

Ehlers has not made any material changes to Form MA or Form MA-I since that date.

Conflicts Arising from Compensation Contingent on the Size or Closing of
Any Transaction
The forms of compensation for municipal advisors vary according to the nature of
the engagement and requirements of the client.  Compensation contingent on the
size of the transaction presents a conflict of interest because the advisor may have
an incentive to advise the client to increase the size of the securities issue for the
purpose of increasing the advisor’s compensation. Compensation contingent on the
closing of the transaction presents a conflict because the advisor may have an
incentive to recommend unnecessary financings or recommend financings that are
disadvantageous to the client.  If the transaction is to be delayed or fail to close, an
advisor may have an incentive to discourage a full consideration of such facts and
circumstances, or to discourage consideration of alternatives that may result in the
cancellation of the financing or other transaction.

Any form of compensation due a Municipal Advisor will likely present specific conflict
of interests with the Client.  If a Client is concerned about the conflict arising from
Municipal Advisor compensation contingent on size and/or closing of their
transaction, Ehlers is willing to discuss and provide another form of Municipal
Advisor compensation.  The Client must notify Ehlers in writing of this request within
10 days of receipt of this Municipal Advisor writing.

MSRB Contact Information
The website address of the MSRB is www.msrb.org. Posted on the MSRB website is a
municipal advisory client brochure that describes the protections that may be
provided by MSRB rules and how to file a complaint with the financial regulatory
authorities.

http://www.sec.gov/edgar/searchedgar/companysearch.html


____________________________________________________________________________________________

Documentation of Municipal Advisor Relationship – Appendix B Page 1
Ehlers October 22, 2024

Appendix B

Scope of Service
Client  has  requested that  Ehlers  & Associates  assist  Client  with  the Creation of  Tax
Incremental  District  No.  8  (“Project”).  Ehlers  &  Associates  proposes  and  agrees  to
provide the following scope of services:

Phase I – Feasibility Analysis
The purpose of Phase I is to determine whether the Project is a statutorily and
economically feasible option to achieve the Client’s objectives. This phase
begins upon your authorization of this engagement and ends on completion
and delivery of a feasibility analysis report. As part of Phase I services, Ehlers &
Associates will:

Consult with appropriate Client officials to identify the Client’s objectives•
for the Project.

Provide feedback as to the appropriateness of using Tax Incremental•
Financing in the context of the “but for” test.

If the Project includes creation of or addition of territory to a district,•
identify preliminary boundaries and gather parcel data from Client.
Determine compliance with the following statutory requirements as
applicable:

Equalized Value test.o

Purpose test (industrial, mixed use, blighted area, in need ofo
rehabilitation or conservation, or environmental remediation).

Newly-platted residential land use test.o

Prepare feasibility analysis report.  The report will include the following•
information, as applicable:

Identification of the type or types of districts that may be created.o

A description of the type, maximum life, expenditure period ando
other features corresponding to the type of district proposed.

A summary of the development assumptions used with respect too
timing of construction and projected values.

Projections of tax increment revenue collections to include annualo
and cumulative present value calculations.

Qualification of the district as a donor or recipient of sharedo
increment, and projected impact of any allocations of shared
increment.

If debt financing is anticipated, a summary of the sizing, structure,o
and timing of proposed debt issues.



Documentation of Municipal Advisor Relationship – Appendix B Page 2
Ehlers October 22, 2024

A cash flow pro forma reflecting annual and cumulative district fundo
balances and projected year of closure.

A draft timetable for the Project.o

Identification of how the creation date may affect the district’so
valuation date, the base value, compliance with the equalized value
test, and the ability to capture current year construction values and
changes in economic value.

When warranted, evaluate, and compare options with respect too
boundaries, type of district, project costs and development levels.

Ehlers & Associates will provide guidance on district design withino
statutory limits to creatively achieve as many of the Client’s
objectives as possible and will provide liaison with State Department
of Revenue as needed in the technical evaluation of options.

Present the results of the feasibility analysis to the Client’s staff, Plan•
Commission, or governing body.

Phase II – Project Plan Development and Approval
If the Client elects to proceed following completion of the feasibility analysis,
the Project will move to Phase II. This phase includes preparation of the
Project Plan, and consideration by the Plan Commission1, governing body, and
the Joint Review Board. This phase begins after receiving notification from the
Client to proceed and ends after the Joint Review Board acts on the Project.
As part of Phase II services, Ehlers & Associates will:

Based on the goals and objectives identified in Phase I, prepare a draft•
Project Plan that includes all statutorily required components.

We will coordinate with your staff, engineer, planner or other designated•
party to obtain a map of the proposed boundaries of the district, a map
showing existing uses and conditions of real property within the district,
and a map showing proposed improvements and uses in the district.

Submit to the Client an electronic version of the draft Project Plan for initial•
review and comment.

Coordinate with Client staff to confirm dates and times for the meetings•
indicated within the table beginning on the following page. Ehlers &
Associates will ensure that selected dates meet all statutory timing
requirements and will provide documentation and notices as indicated.

1If Client has created a Redevelopment Authority or a Community Development Authority, that body may fulfill the
statutory requirements of the Plan Commission related to creation or amendment of the district.



Documentation of Municipal Advisor Relationship – Appendix B Page 3
Ehlers October 22, 2024

Meeting Ehlers  &  Associates
Responsibility Client Responsibility

Initial Joint
Review Board

Prepare Notice of Meeting and
transmit to Client’s designated paper.

Mail meeting notice, informational
materials, and draft Project Plan to
overlapping taxing jurisdictions.

Provide agenda language to Client.

Attend meeting to present draft
Project Plan.

Post or publish agenda and
provide notification as
required by the Wisconsin
Open Records Law.

Prepare meeting minutes.

Designate Client Joint Review
Board representative.

Identify and recommend
Public Joint Review Board
representative for
appointment.

Plan
Commission
Public
Hearing

Prepare Notice of Public Hearing and
transmit to Client’s designated paper.

Post or publish agenda and
provide notification as
required by the Wisconsin
Open Records Law.

Plan
Commission
Public
Hearing

For blighted area districts and in need
of rehabilitation or conservation
districts, provide a format for the
required individual property owner
notification letters.

Attend hearing to present draft
Project Plan.

Prepare and mail individual
property owner notices (only
for districts created as
blighted area, or in need of
rehabilitation or
conservation).

Prepare meeting minutes.

Plan
Commission

Provide agenda language to Client.

Attend meeting to present draft
Project Plan.

Provide approval resolution for Plan
Commission consideration.

Post or publish agenda and
provide notification as
required by the Wisconsin
Open Records Law.

Distribute Project Plan &
resolution to Plan
Commission members in
advance of meeting.

Prepare meeting minutes.

Governing
Body Action

Provide agenda language to Client.

Attend meeting to present draft
Project Plan.

Provide approval resolution for
governing body consideration.

Post or publish agenda and
provide notification as
required by the Wisconsin
Open Records Law.

Provide Project Plan &
resolution to governing body
members in advance of
meeting.

Prepare meeting minutes.



Documentation of Municipal Advisor Relationship – Appendix B Page 4
Ehlers October 22, 2024

Joint Review
Board Action

Mail meeting notice and copy of final
Project Plan to overlapping taxing
jurisdictions.

Prepare Notice of Meeting and
transmit to Client’s designated paper.

Provide agenda language to Client.

Attend meeting to present final
Project Plan.

Provide approval resolution for Joint
Review Board consideration.

Post or publish agenda and
provide notification as
required by the Wisconsin
Open Records Law.

Prepare meeting minutes.

Throughout the meeting process, provide drafts of the Project Plan and•
related documents in sufficient quantity for the Client’s staff, Plan
Commission, governing body and Joint Review Board members.

Provide advice and updated analysis on the impact of any changes made•
to the Project Plan throughout the approval process.

Phase III – State Submittal
This phase includes final review of all file documents, preparation of filing
forms, and submission of the base year or amendment packet to the
Department of Revenue.  This phase begins following approval of the district
by the Joint Review Board and ends with the submission of the base year or
amendment packet. As part of Phase III services, Ehlers & Associates will:

Coordinate with Client’s assessor and other staff as necessary to obtain•
parcel valuations, parcel data and other information needed for preparation
of the State forms that must be filed as part of the base year or
amendment packet.

Assemble and submit to the Department of Revenue the required base•
year or amendment packet to include a final Project Plan document
containing all required elements and information.

Provide the Client with an electronic copy of the final Project Plan (and up•
to 15 bound hard copies if desired).

Provide the municipal Clerk with a complete electronic and/or hard copy•
transcript of all materials as submitted to the Department of Revenue for
certification.

Act as a liaison between the Client and the Department of Revenue during•
the certification process in the event any questions or discrepancies arise.



Documentation of Municipal Advisor Relationship – Appendix B Page 5
Ehlers October 22, 2024

Compensation - Flat Fee Portion of Engagement
In  return  for  the  services  set  forth  in  the  “Scope  of  Service,”  Client  agrees  to
compensate Ehlers & Associates as follows:

Phase I $  3,500
Phase II $  8,000
Phase III $  2,500
Total $ 14,000

Pricing includes a $3,000 discount for Phase I services based on client’s separate•
engagement of Ehlers & Associates to review the developer’s proforma for the
project related to the District. If for any reason that work does not proceed or
cannot be completed $3,000 will be added to the cost of Phase I for a total fee of
$17,000.

Phase I base fee includes up to five financial scenarios. Additional scenarios will•
be run as needed at a cost of $750/scenario.

In the event Client determines not to proceed with the Project once a Phase has•
been authorized, but prior to that Phase’s completion, the compensation due for
that Phase will be prorated to reflect the percentage of the work completed.

Compensation – Hourly Services Portion of Engagement
Ehlers & Associates will bill Client on an hourly basis for services requested by Client
in conjunction with the engagement that are not specifically identified in the Scope
of Service set forth in this letter. Examples would include:

Attendance at additional meetings beyond the four required for approval or•
amendment of the District (Organizational Joint Review Board, Plan Commission,
Governing Body and Final Joint Review Board).

Review of development agreements related to the District’s Project Plan and•
participation in negotiations with developers.

Hourly services will be billed at a rate that is dependent upon the task/staff required
to meet Client request at no less than $125.00/hour and not to exceed $350.00/
hour.

Payment for Services
For  all  compensation  due  to  Ehlers  &  Associates,  we  will  invoice  Client  for  the
amount  due  at  the  completion  of  each  Phase.  Our  fees  include  our  normal  travel,
printing,  computer  services,  and  mail/delivery  charges.  The  invoice  is  due  and
payable upon receipt by the Client.

Client Responsibility
The following expenses are not included in our Scope of Services, and are the
responsibility of Client to pay directly:



Documentation of Municipal Advisor Relationship – Appendix B Page 6
Ehlers October 22, 2024

Services rendered by Client’s engineers, planners, surveyors, appraisers,•
assessors, attorneys, auditors, and others that may be called on by Client to
provide information related to completion of the Project.

Preparation of maps necessary for inclusion in the Project Plan.•

Preparation of maps necessary for inclusion in the base year or amendment•
packet.

Publication charge for the Notice of Public Hearing and Notices of Joint Review•
Board meetings.

Legal opinion advising that Project Plan contains all required elements.•
(Normally provided by municipal attorney).

Preparation of District metes & bounds description. (Needed in Phase III for•
creation of new districts, or amendments that add or subtract territory).

Department of Revenue filing fee and annual administrative fees. The current•
Department of Revenue fee structure is:

Current Wisconsin Department of Revenue Fee Schedules

Base Year Packet $1,000

Amendment Packet with Territory Addition
or Subtraction $1,000

Amendment Packet with Territory Addition
and Subtraction $2,000

Base Value Redetermination $1,000

Amendment Packet No Charge

Annual Administrative Fee $150



City of Plymouth 
128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107 
Plymouth, WI  53073-0107 

Telephone: (920) 893-3745
Facsimile: (920) 893-0183

     Web Site:        plymouthgov.com 

DATE: 

TO: 

FROM: 

RE: 

November 21, 2024 

Mayor and Common Council 

Cathy Austin, Director of Public Works 

2025 Capital Improvement Plan:   
Aquatic Center Pool Floor Replaster 

As part of the 2025 Capital Improvement Plan that was approved on November 12, 2024, 
dollars were allocated for the Public Works Department to replaster the existing 20+ year old 
pool floor at the Aquatic Center.     

DPW received two bids for this work.  

Company Price 
Neuman Pools, Inc 
Beaver Dam, WI 

$229,283.00 

Badger Swimpools, Inc 
Prairie du Sac, WI 

$244,520.00 

The budget allocated a total of $280,000 for both the pool heater replacement and the coating of 
the pool floor.   For those two project combine, we will be under budget.  Approval of this 
proposal reserves our placement on their schedule for work to be completed in Spring of 2025. 

Recommendation 
To approve the bid from Neuman Pools, Inc for the replastering the pool floor in the amount of 
$229,283.00. 













City of Plymouth 
128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107 
Plymouth, WI  53073-0107 

Telephone: (920) 893-3745
Facsimile: (920) 893-0183

     Web Site:        plymouthgov.com 

DATE: November 21, 2024 

TO: Mayor and Common Council 

FROM: Cathy Austin, Director of Public Works 

RE: 2025 Capital Improvement Plan:   
Aquatic Center Heater Replacement 

As part of the 2025 Capital Improvement Plan that was approved on November 12, 2024, 
dollars were allocated for the Public Works Department to replace the existing 20+ year old 
heaters at the Aquatic Center.   

DPW received three bids for this work.  

Company Price 
Haucke Plumbing 
Plymouth, WI 

$44,500.00 

Carrico Aquatics 
Jefferson, WI  

$45,418.00 

Neuman Pools, Inc 
Beaver Dam, WI 

$58,385.00 

The budget allocated a total of $280,000 for both the pool heater replacement and the coating of 
the pool floor.   For those two project combine, we will be under budget.  Approval of this 
proposal reserves our placement on their schedule for work to be completed in Spring of 2025. 

Recommendation 
To approve the proposal from Haucke Plumbing for the pool heater replacement in the amount 
of $44,500.00. 

















City of Plymouth 
128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107 
Plymouth, WI  53073-0107 

Telephone: (920) 893-3745
Facsimile: (920) 893-0183

     Web Site:        plymouthgov.com 

DATE: 

TO: 

FROM: 

RE: 

November 21, 2024 

Mayor and Common Council 

Cathy Austin, Director of Public Works 

2025 Capital Improvement Plan:   
Asphalt Roadsaver Trailer 

As part of the 2025 Capital Improvement Plan that was approved on November 12, 2024, 
dollars were allocated for the Public Works Department to purchase an Asphalt Roadsaver 
Trailer.  This will allow DPW to keep the asphalt and the asphalt tack hot while crews work. 

DPW received three quotes for the asphalt trailer. 

Company Price 
Sherwin Industries, INC, 
Milwaukee, WI 

$50,720.00 

STEPP MFG,  
North Branch, MN 

$52,069.00 

Midwest Paving Equipment, INC 
Glen Ellyn, IL 

$53,919.00 

The budget allocated a total of $50,000.  The $720.00 will come from Capital Fund Reserves. 

Approval of this quote orders the trailer and no dollars will be paid until 2025. 

Recommendation 
To approve the purchase of the Asphalt Roadsaver Trailer from Sherwin Industries, Inc in the 
amount of $50,720. 















 

 
 
 
City of Plymouth 
128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107 
Plymouth, WI  53073-0107 
  
 

 
  
 

 
 
 

Telephone: (920) 893-3745 
Facsimile: (920) 893-0183 

     Web Site:        plymouthgov.com 
 
 

 
DATE:  November 21, 2024 

TO:  Mayor and Common Council 

FROM: Cathy Austin, Director of Public Works   

RE:  2025 Street Project:   
Forest Avenue: N Milwaukee Street (HWY 67) to North Street 

 
 
As identified in the 2025 Budget, Collins Street will be the 2025 Street/Utility Project.  The project 
scope includes:  new curb and gutter, water main, sanitary sewer storm sewer and asphalt 
pavement.   
 

 
 
 
Please see attached quote from Kapur & Associates for engineering services.  This does include 
an archeological investigation study due to the proximity of historical properties within the project 
limits.  This project would be out for in Early February to ensure we receive quality bids.   
 
 
 
Recommendation 
To approve the request to proceed with engineering services with Kapur and Associates in an 
amount of $98,910.00 funding to come from the Capital Funds.    
 



7711 N. Port Washington Road 

Milwaukee, WI 53217 

T: 414.751.7200 •  F: 414.351.4117 
 

 

 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  
 

2025 Street Program – 
Collins Street - Eastern Avenue to S. Stafford Street 

Thayer Street – S. Stafford Street to RR Tracks 
City of Plymouth 

 
This Agreement is between City of Plymouth (OWNER) and Kapur & Associates, Inc. (ENGINEER) for 
professional engineering services for the following purpose: 
 
Provide design engineering services and bidding documents for the referenced project. 
 
Section A.  Description of Work 
 
ENGINEER will provide all survey and engineering design services for the scope as listed below. 
 
Section B.  Scope of Services 
 
DESIGN ENGINEERING SERVICES 
      Collins Street & Thayer Street (Approximately 1,900’) 

 Topographic survey from back of R/W to R/W.   
 Survey of walls and steps and railings within R/W. 
 New water main relay, including water services to curb box, valves, and hydrants.   
 New sanitary sewer main and laterals to terrace.   
 New storm sewer main and appurtenances for the length of the project.   
 Full reconstruct of pavement, curb & gutter and drive approaches.  
 Sidewalk to remain, except for spot replacement.   
 Coordinate with utilities and RR. 
 DNR permits. 
 Archaeological Investigation for historical properties. 
 Public Information Meeting and regular progress meetings with City staff.  
 Engineering cost estimates.   
 Preparation of plans, specifications, and bidding documents.   
 Assistance in bidding and award of construction contract.   

 
Section C.  Schedule 
 
ENGINEER shall perform the Scope of Services with a target bid in January/February 2025, with award 
of the project in February/March 2025.  
 
 



 

 

Section D.  Compensation 
 
In return for the performance of the foregoing obligations, OWNER shall compensate ENGINEER on a 
time-and-material basis estimated at $98,910.00. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the OWNER and ENGINEER have executed this Agreement. 
OWNER: City of Plymouth     ENGINEER: Kapur & Associates, Inc. 
 
 
By:       __________________  By:                      
      
Title: Director of Public Works/City Engineer Title: Associate/Milwaukee Muni. Manager      
 
Date:        Date:      October 24, 2024                 
 
 



 

 
 
 
City of Plymouth 
128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107 
Plymouth, WI  53073-0107 
  
 

 
  
 

 
 
 

Telephone: (920) 893-3745 
Facsimile: (920) 893-0183 

     Web Site:        plymouthgov.com 
 
 

 
DATE:  November 21, 2024 

TO:  Mayor and Common Council 

FROM: Cathy Austin, Director of Public Works   

RE:  2025 Capital Improvement Plan:   
Street Sweeper 

 
 
 
As part of the 2025 Capital Improvement Plan that was approved on November 12, 2024, 
dollars were allocated for the Public Works Department to purchase a new Street Sweeper.   
 
DPW received three quotes for the street sweeper, which also include a trade-in value for the 
existing street sweeper. 
 

Company Price Trade-In Value of 
Existing Sweeper 

Price After 
Trade-In 

Serwe Implement, LLC 
Brownsville, WI 

$377,976 $59,000 $318,976 

Environmental Equipment and Services, Inc 
Elko, MN 

$399,565 $40,000 $359,565 

EnviroTech Equipment 
Lannon, WI 

$385,620 $25,000 $360,620 

 
The sweeper from Serwe Implement is a 2024 demo model with less than 50 hours on the 
vehicle.   
 
The budget allocated a total of $340,000.   Approval of this quote reserves the sweeper, but no 
dollars will be paid until 2025. 
 
Recommendation 
To approve the purchase of the street sweeper from Serwe Implement, LLC in the amount of 
$318,976.00. 
 
 















 

 
 
 
City of Plymouth 
128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107 
Plymouth, WI  53073-0107 
  
 

 
  
 

 
 
 

Telephone: (920) 893-3745 
Facsimile: (920) 893-0183 

     Web Site:        plymouthgov.com 
 
 

 
DATE:  November 21, 2024 

TO:  Mayor and Common Council 

FROM: Cathy Austin, Director of Public Works   

RE:  2025 Capital Improvement Plan:   
Lawn Mower with Snowblower Attachments 

 
 
 
As part of the 2025 Capital Improvement Plan that was approved on November 12, 2024, 
dollars were allocated for the Public Works Department to replace an existing lawnmower for 
the Parks.   
 
DPW received two quotes for the mower and snowblower attachments, which also includes a 
trade-in value for the existing lawnmower. 
 

Company Price Trade-In Value of 
Existing Sweeper 

Price After 
Trade-In 

Lochen Equipment 
Waldo, WI 

$44,774.04 $5,500.00 $39,274.04 

Feldmann Sales and Services 
Howards Grove, WI 

$44,721.00 No trade      
(would need to auction) 

$44,721.00 

 
The budget allocated a total of $40,000.   Approval of this quote places the order for the lawn 
mower, but no dollars will be paid until 2025. 
 
Recommendation 
To approve the purchase of the lawn mower with snowblower attachments from Lochen 
Equipment in the amount of $39,274.04. 
 
 










	Common Council Agenda 11-26-24
	Consent Agenda
	3A. Common Council Minutes 11-12-24
	3BI. Approve Electric, Water and Sewer Sales Report - October 2024
	3BII. Approve Utility Related Write Offs for November - $6,620.95
	3C. Acknowledge Minutes for filing

	Public Hearings
	6A. Ordinance No. 22 An Ordinance Amending Section 13-1-28 of the City of Plymouth, Wisconsin Zoning Code Regarding High Density Multi-Family Residential District
	6B. Ordinance No. 23 An Ordinance Amending Section 13-1-192(d) and Repealing Section 13-1-193 of the City of Plymouth, Wisconsin Zoning Code Regarding Voting on Zoning Code Amendments
	6C. Ordinance No. 24 An Ordinance Amending Section 13-1-104 and Repealing Section 13-1-105 of the City of Plymouth, Wisconsin Zoning Code Regarding Political Message Signs

	Ordinances
	Ordinance No. 25 An Ordinance Creating Section 12-1-10 of the General Code of Ordinances of the City of Plymouth, Wisconsin Related to Nutt Ski Hill Park

	Resolution
	8A. Resolution No. 12 Declaring Official Intent to Reimburse Expenditures from Proceeds of Bonding

	New Business
	9A. Discussion and Possible Action of Agreement with Ehlers Regarding TID #8 Services
	9B. Discussion and Possible Action to Approve Bid from Neuman Pools in the amount of $229,283 for Pool Floor Rehab
	9C. Discussion and Possible Action to Approve Proposal from Haucke Plumbing in the amount of $44,500 for the Pool Heater Replacement
	9D. Discussion and Possible Action to Approve the Purchase of Asphalt Roadsaver Trailer from Sherwin Industries, Inc. in the amount of $50,720
	9E. Discussion and Possible Action on Agreement with Kapur Engineering for Design and Engineering for 2025 Street Project
	9F. Discussion and Possible Action to Approve the Purchase of a Street Sweeper from Serwe Implement LLC in the amount of $318,976
	9G. Discussion and Possible Action to Approve the Purchase of a Lawn Mower with Snowblower Attachment from Lochen Equipment in the amount of $39,274.04




